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In March, 1846, Liverpool newspapers
announced thc launch of an iron screw steamcr from Jomes
Hodgson's shipbuilding yard. Desirncd by John Grantham and
built for M'Tcar and Hadfield, of Liverpool, as "thc first
of a line of steamers to Brazil", she was christcned thc
ANTELOPE. Varlous dimensions have becn crcdited to her,
but the firmest cvidence is that of the Liverpool Registry
of Shipping, which records her as a threc-mast ship, of
459 tons rcmistcer, 185.7 x 24.7 X 16.7. Thc rcoister,
datcd 29 Ausust, 1846, describes her as having one deck
and a poop, standing bowsprit, squarc sterm, sham gallerics,
a billect hcad, and as being clonchcr-built. Enpgincs of 100
horsc=powcr wcrc supnlicd by Fawcctt,. The ANTELOFE was
placcd on thc Liverpool to Rio dc Janeiro station and made
several successful voyages undcr Captain H.H.O0'Brycn, with
a crcw of forty. In 1848, most of her shares were trans-
ferrcd to J.K.Rounthwailte, City of Dublin Stecam Packet Co.,
and a ycar latcer she was rcgistcred dc novoe Shc 1s not
noticed in locol reccords afterwards until 30 January 1852,
when the. Liverpool Mercury announccd that "The ANTELOPE, and
iron stcamer, has arrivcd herc from California after an
abasence of about thrcec ycarse Shce 1c In such sound condition
after hey voyapcs to and from thc Pacific and her scrvicce
there that a 1ittlc paint 1s all that is rcquired to smartcn
her up for another trip." At Liverpool, howcver, shc camc
undcr ncw owncrshilp and during 1852 was lcngthencd and fitted
with ncw cngines by Georgc Forrcstcr and Coe On 3rd Dcccmber,
Millcrs & Thompson advertised hcr to sall on thcir Goldcen
Linc of Australian Packcts, dcescribing hcer as of 1200 tons,
250 horsc-power cngincs, "bullt spcclally for the Australian

vede {which presumably refoerrcd to her lengthening) and as
divided into six watceptight compartmcntse Shc carricd
stowards, stewardess ond surgeon, and was armcd and fitted
with bullion safcs. On 22 Fcbruary, 18563, she¢ ran a trial
t+ip, making 12 knots under stcam and canvas, and 10 knots
undcr sall only. Five days later she was registerced ancw at
Livernool in the names of Jamcs Jack, John Bacon, and Jomcs
Gromtham. Both Jack and Grantham were Liverpool cnsincors,
vhile John Bacon wans founder of thc coastal steamship firm
of tlint namc. Shewn asg of 778 tons rcgister, shc clcarcd on
¥ .pch for Melbournc with a crcw of 60 mcn undcr Captain
Henpys G, ¥oan. The ncxt record concerms her arrival at
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Sydney on 27 January, 1854, and I am thus not cecrtain ag
to how many voyagcs shc had mcanwhilc made to Australia,
but she arrived back safcly in the Mcrscy, for local ncws—
papcrs of May, 1855, announced hcer as for sale, giving her
dimcnsions as 228 x 256 x 15, with 150 horsc-power cnoincs
by Forrcstcr, and fitted for 120 first and sccond-class
passcneers.  Her spocd is modestly put at 8% knots, and hérp
cargo capacity ac 700 tons. Two ycars latcr, she appcarcd
on thc Liverpool to Portland Mainc route "to sail in dircct
corrmmication with thc Grand Trunk Railway", whose agcnts
at Liverpdol werc Sabel and Scarle. .

In 1857, thc ANTELOPE was sold to Pcarson and
Colcman, of Hull, aftcr making scvoral voyages to Qucbec
for thc 1l1~fatcd Galway Linc and, latcr, for Sabcl and .
Scarle's Washington Linc to New York.. Pcarson and Coleman
.appear to have sold hcr in 1857 to a2 Grimsby firm, who . .
fitted new cngines and rc-namcd her the CORAL QUEEN. In
1866, shec was purchescd by Pile, Spcnce and Co. and siven
enrincs of 90 hrorsc-powcr, and -five ycars latcr che oppears
undcr the owncrship of Christopher M, Webstcer, with her
dimcnsions chanscd to 753 tons grocs, 478 tons nctt, 236.9
X 26.4 x 16.6 Scven days ycars later, she is shewn undcer
thc owncrship of the West Hartlcpool Stcam Naviczation Coe.,
hcr tommasc beines then 856 tons rross. :This stout little
vessel lived until sunk by colliscion in the North Sea in
1890, The 1ron stcamer SARAH SANDS is wiven credit for
thc pioncer serew voyaze to the Pacific, but as will be
noticed from the forceoing, thc ANTELOPE holds the honour
of being the first screw stcamcr to rcach South Amcrica,
the first to rcach Colifornmia and the North Pacific.

On 19 Dccember, 1846, a larscr iron screw vessel,
thce SARAH SANDS, namcd aftcr the wifc of her owner, Thomas
Sands, a Liverpoel merchant, was rcristcrcd at that porte.
This steconcr, also, was built by Jamcs Hodrson, and her
oricinal mcnsurement snd tonmagc has been variously shown.
Fletchier,  in "Steam Ships and their Story" gives the lensth
ap 182 fcot bepep., whilc others statc that she was 220 ft.
over-all, But. the Liverpool rcoistry of 1846 chewe her-as
207.6 x 30.5, and on re-rceoistry in 1860 the lenpth 1s given
as 218° feot, When complcted in 1846 shce was presunably
& fuurenoot barque, fitted with ¢ngincs of 300 H.P., by Bury
Curtis,nd Kenncdy, but it is curious to notc that in 1852,
on o rc=recistry, she 1s shewn ac a two-mast schooncr of
931 tons ornsc, with a sceroll hcade At that datc, her
oWLAPE arc ghown as Charles 0ddic, W.C.Thompson (master)
and John Grernthem, cngincer. Thc SARAH SANDS madc herx
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first voyage to New York: in 1847 undcr the housc~flag of
thce Red Crosg Linc of sailine packets, and remaincd on that
gervice until 1849. In 1847 hcr best pascapge from the
Mcrscy to New York was madc in 20 days, hut in 1849 chc
made scveral resgular voyages in 16% to 187 dayse Her
North Atlentic carccr proved short, for shc was transfcrred
in 1849 to a coastal scrvicc betvwecn Panama and San Frane-
cisco, a tradc which had bcen pioncercd, from a scrcw
standpoint, by thc littlc AVTELOPE. Discovcry of gold in
Australia, causcd the SARAH SANDS to cross thc Pacific
- erovdcd with sold-sccliing passcnacrs, and she was thus the
first scrcw vesccl to cross that occane 1In 1852 she was
back in the Mcroccy and, ae aboveotatcd, then chanccd owncr-
ghip. Lotcr in the ycar she was advertised to sail under
command of Captain W.C.Thompson, for Mclbournc and Sydncy,
for account of thce Mclbournc Gold and Mining Assoclation.
In 1853 chc clearcd on scveral succceorsive voyagces for
Qucbee and Portland for M'Kcan and M'Larty, her tonnage
beine shewn as 930, .and her crew as oixty., Thus, shc can
bc noted ag the first iron scrcw stcamcr in the Canadian
tradc. On hcer last rcturn voyagc shce struck the rocks in
the Straits of Bellce Islec ond remaincd fagt for four doys
and nightes, and on rcturning to thc Mcrscy it wac found
‘that rot a single rivet had been startcd!  vhen lcaving
oravine dock, hovever, che capcizcd, but proved nonc the
worsc for this, nor for o proevious mrounding in the Mcerscy
vhoen carrying 1. 000 tons doeadweirht, These incidentc in
her corcer did much to daaonstrate the superiority of iron
over woodcn vegosclse

The SAAH SANDS alpo found ruch criployment in
trooping, and on 26 May, 1855, clcarcd fram Livcrpool for
Balaclava with troops, and asain on 6 March 1856, carricd

Crimca. At that dantc ghe was described as of 1269 tons
rezirtor and 200 horse~powere Thonfollows the cpicode
rwhich hap nedo her mamc historice on 15 Au~unt, 1857,
phe cmbaried the hoadguartors comamany of thc 54th (West
Novfolk) Rerincnt, consictine of $569 officers and other
ranla, e 11 yonen, o Tuilas She goiled 22 Ausuct
ol arrivad ab Sinosge Bay on 18 Octoker, with the crew in
o abote N miting. Here ghe stoyed for Tive days. COon-
tisuing the voyase, she moet a heavy . quall on 7 Novembur
which aarricd mwory the foromuct, aal latere in the game Aoy
five wan noticed coming from the adber hold. Soon 1t

wupe scon that thic was woll alisht. Womon werc put into
the boote and, vith part of the crew, sont away fraom the



L X

ship, and a long strugmsle ageinst odds commenced. The star-
magazinge w¥F=2s soon cleared of its contenis; but attempts to
ease the port magazine proved wiavailing; and men were over-
comc by smoke fumes at every eifori.. The ceptain set hepr sails
£o bring the ship's head to the wind., Plames then broke -
throurh the deck, end soon all rigsing was ablaze. Pumps were
Yicorously worked, and onc detachment of soldiers employed
throwing overboard cverything of an inflammable naturc, while
others busied themselves at making raftse Then a terrible
explosion shook the ship, and she gppcared to be sinking, but

a cursory examination caused somc re-assurance, and fresh
attempits were made to salvage her. Again, themen of the
54th Regiment labourcd with great courage. If the wind had
vecred astcrn, nothing could have saved the shipe The boats
were hailed to kecp her hcad towed to the wind, but only onc
respendcdd Ar:d go the eventrul nisht viorc one After six-
tcen hourse, the firc was cet undere The wholc of the after—
part of the SARAER SAWDS was ceen o5 a sbeaming wreck, with four
grceat ivon tanls roiling about and threatening te po through
the shin's bant and weakened plates. A& huge holc, however, had
becen tlowa ir her stern, and only the uwnususl thiclness of her
iron sowially saved the vessnle Charts, corpasses, and
chroacmcters were all desvreoyed, and the lest observation made
had chicued her 800 miles from Mauritius. Twelve days later,
shc arrived at Port Leuis, in Mauritius, vherc cvryonc medc a
great fuss of She soldicrs, and scon the story was all over the
world and, on cccuunt -of the hravery end discipline of the Nor-
folks, ccd ouh tocvery rcgiment in the British Army at home
and abroads. -

m.c SLRAH SAYDS was cventually brousght home to the Mer-
scy, and on 7-Deceamber 1860 wag rcgist ercd undcr the ownership -
of Gis2rd Batc: a3 an iron screw, four-mastced barquc stcamer
of 1RC horzc-power, beins then described as clencher-built,
siitlh o weoan hust figure~hcad, a squarc stern and no gallcrics.
Or. 17 '"~zwein; 18%2, sho clearcd for Modrac with a crew of 29
ner. o acainn I 8epicmihar 13864 Tor Poabay under cormand of
Capiain I, Waitc. In 18064 gho vinp rorisicred anew an a con-
vorsot soilinoesalp., Pive years latore diic wuws wrcecked on the
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ruch bhas bool wriiien resgarding the largest
oFf ~ur lonsLr Serew stowners e to chasce the following notes
o
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£9 _ A, it T baye avpeadod this note in order
to crato, in o the Socicty's recorde, the contenary of the
1emmienine 507 ko GRTAT BRITADNY. . Crcdit for her design

a

11~ Jointly 71th Brunel and 3gott Pussclle She was
opdops s Ty S Frost dWesturn Steanship Conpany from Patterson,
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who constructed her in a dey dock et Bristol, whcre the kcel
was laid in 1839. On 19th- July, 1843, in thc presence of
Princc Albcrt and a #reat concourse of spcctators, she was
launchcd or floatcd. For some reacon, ncver satisfactorily
cxplaincd, shc proved unablc to cntcr the river Avon because
the dock cntrance, according to somc recoxrds, was slightly
askcew and thus did not pcrmit her to turn, and also that
there was insuvfficicat depth of water over the sill. Another
writcr statces that shic wes constructed with so much beam that
the dock cntrnnecce mercly proved tno narrcw. Whatcver the
cauge, shc rcmained fitting out in the Cumberland Dock until
December 1344, =nd loeft Bristol on 23rd January 1845, orriv-
ing in ILondon in 59 hours.

Her grogs tonnage has becen stated as 3270 tons by many
writcers, gnd ac 3443 by cothers; whilc therce are various
cstimates ag to her dimcnsions, but vic may rerard the laticr
as being 322 feet length over—-all, 239 fect between perpendixmln
culars; 50.5 fcct brcadth, 32.5 feet deptne She was origine—
21ly intcbded as a paddlce stcamer, ord tradition has it that
from this fact syrzng a mopt valuablc invention. Owing to
the difficuliy of feorging the hwse ircn shafts which weuld
have becn necessary for thc paddles, Bruncl,; in this extrcmitly
conrultod tLhe Worth Country cnrincer, Nasnyth, who eventually
prodéuced bhnc ptuam Laoner to mect vhe occacion, and thus our
iron and sécoel industrics are indcbted for an invention which
did nuch. to dasvelop thome -

" Bub tac OREAT BRITAIY (or "Mammoth" as shc was in-
tended to be nmacd) was 105 destined to becomc a paddlcers
Brunci had noticed thc. success of the-1littlc screw vessel
ARCHIMEDES, and& thc groat iron vesgsel was fitted with four dia-
monsl cylinder cnmincs by Gupp, 38" dismcter, 72" stroke, with
an indicatcd horsc-vowe of 1b00. Thcsc worked a six~-bladed
proncllor, The hull of the ship was constructcd of ;ron and
modelled man o' wnl rachion, with tumbled-in or lop-sidcs, and
sho wag Titbed with oiz mast krown by hcr ercw as "Monday to
Sayraanytt, ali ol hicn, copu thl second or malnmast, WoId
hinged =o <5 6o pewilt thim 5o he rowersd to the decks On
26 Snlw, 1343, (ae loit on hor fipst voyage from Liverpool for
New "™k, wish A0 prascarere &l ACO tons ardQ, aqd ?cachcd an
averas: cpeud 0f Ye & 110U, maling the reiurm voyasce 1n‘141
days, wita =2 bost Aay's 171 of 237 milcs. Shc madc scv%ra
00l tina. uov of auy conmpetitive luportance to Cunard's i
vepscls, =i on ol voyase broke two.bladcs of the propell:i.
makin~ hor woy bo Diverpool wdcer sail at better progress an
wundar sbeu™s wittod with o new four-bladcd SCIrCw, she con=
t1 neod o Lhe station until strending at Dundrum Bay, Coe
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Doway, in 1846. Here, her sound construction stood up to a
crot test. Protectcd by 2 larsc breeckwater of timber and
fag~rots, she lay thore for ten months wuntil towed off by the
iil=fotcd H.M.S. BIFKINHEAD, and broucht round to the Mcrscy.

At thiz juncturc her ovmers, Great Western Stcanship Corpnny,
wcnt into liquidation, for thce GREAT BRITAIN had cogst about
£1C0. 000, ~ huge sun for thosc dayse. At Livcrpool sho was
bourht by Gibbs, Brischt ond Co. for £24,000. Mcanwhilc

there had becn some chanee in her rig, for the Nautical Magazinc
of Junc 1846 states that her riec had been rcduced to five
masts, each stcpped on to the kocle The new ovncrs of 1847
contracted with Pcnn, oI Grceenvicn, for ncw cngines, and a
fursviicr change wog nadce reTarndin: funncls, her singlc funnel
beins renlaced by tvo funncls fixed athw artships, whilc o
throo-bladed propeller was substituted for the four-blade
scocw,  With these alterations, she reached a trial gpeed of
10 Imots without soil. Shc had, in addition, a spread of
caavas nmeasuring 1700 squoarc yards. In 1852, Gibbs Bright
cni Coe. prornoted the Livernool and Auvstralian Steam N'lv1r'r'~t10n
Co-pany, incorporatcd by 20yal Chartur, and it was the latter
cct which gave the nane to the ill~foted stcamer ROYAL CHARTER
of thce soric cormany, of which Tindall Brisht was sccerotary.
The GREAT BRITAIN made anothc,r voyoTe ocross the Atlantic and
vag thce put into her owners' Auutralian trade, alonerside the
fameus cailineg celippers of the Ezrle and Black Ball Lines and,
undcr cormmand of Captain B. R. Mathews, formerly of thc GREAT
WESTI'RN, she arrived at Meclbourne in 81 days. Azcin, under
Lh,thew.,, she made another trips in Avsust 1852 and rcturned to
the Hcrsey in April 18556, via Algoa Bay and Samén's Bay, with
260 parscenrers ond £300.000 in spceic, in addition to much
gold :'Ln the passcnocrs' possessione The crew, on both voye
ages, spoke'exco’.‘.lcntly.of their cantain. 5he had covered
13.458 miles in 70 =2ailinz days, with an average speed of
cijiit miles an hour,

nc«,omlmn to taec newspapers of 1853, she wndlerwent

anothe chaags To makc her reserible the ROYAL CHARTER, then
Toiliding, hc’r four noste were replaced by three taller oncs,
wousen masts beinrt cubstituted for two of the iron masts, and
shis cmcyreged as a thrce-gpasted ship, with onc funncl = the
presiicat of all hor ridgs. At lunch, on complction of these
alterations, Captiin Mathews gtated that he first went to sca
at ten years of age and was now 50 ycars old, having rcached
thnt aze writhout shipwrcck or accident. It was also stated
at tlw: Timchcon that e coslinm station had been specially
fixel for the ghip =t the Falklands Islands. She sailed
ag1in in the followins Aucust, her pacscenger fares being:
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srter=-8Shloon, 70 suineas; Midship berths 65 guineas; Fore—
saloon second clapgg 42 guincasg; Lovwer Cabin 30 to 32 cuineag
-nd a few at 25 guincegs. Before sailing, she lay in the
Sandon Doclr, taking 1n coals and preparing to bend sails, and
the public were allowed aboard from noon to four o'clock cach
day at a shillin~ a hcad, thc procccds being applied to
vstablishing an &migrants' homc at Mclbournce Car z0 was
taken at £8 per ton plus 5% paid at Liverpool, thc owncrs
stipulating in the bill of ladins thot 40s/=- would bc fore
fcited by the ship if she failcd to rcach Mclbournc in 65 days.
She scilcd on 11 Ausust with 84 first, 119 second, ond 116
third class passsensers, 600 tons carge, ‘and 1400 tons coale
Thousands asscmblcd at the pier~hcad t# watch her dcpdrture,
and che was accompenicd ag far as the 3ar by Mr. Bright and
Caplain Schomberg, R.N., the government emigsration officers.
Shc nade the voyage in 65 days.

In April, 1854, further altcrations werc made to the
visaeel, includine the fitting of baths for the passengers.
S wae then under commarnd of Captain John Gray, who rcmained
muttor fob some years. On Yebruary 19th, 1855, the GREA
BLITAIN was rc~registered at Liverpool as an iron screw three-
past ship of 1794 net tons, mcasuring 274 fect length, 48.2
breodih, by 31.5 focot dcepth, with gtanding bowsprit, sguarc
stern, shicld head, shant golicrics, carvel builte During
thie ensuing ycars she remained on the australian station,
cxcept for = period of troopins. -In ofricial trooping recorde
site is shown as of 2935 tons sross, 21d on 9 February 1856
carricd scveral military units from Liverpool to Kingstown.
and oil 5 March took out a full load of troops for Malta. In
the following June, shc returncd from Malta to Liverpool with
the 3rd Lanccrs and the 48th Rcecpgiment on board. She then
rcounied serviec to Australia under Captain Gray, and from
Liverpool rccords appcers to heve carricd a crew of 138 men
for these tripns. Cn this Srade she continued a popular vessel
fo: 20 years, her yellow furnel and familiar housc~flag dbeing
lewsr. by every soeileitione Whon reportons onc of her arrivals
ir e dorncys In 1871, the local newspapersstated that she had |
tioo1 ninde 0o lese tamy sceven consceutive voyages averaging
575 days, truly a creditable performence for such o vencrable
shiy,. Tut, the fucl cost of her voyages rmust heve proved

s-c:;-:-:u);-;-,ive, and in 1874 shc wns withdrawn from the servicc.
.oy years later, her cnoincs were taken out and she bccame

atsailing ship, but her sailing carecr proved bricf, and in

1833 tho meand old vesccl was condarmed and hulked at Port

% , TrnAs Borhes st



Staihley, in the Falklsnd Islands, for use as a coal depot,
In 1920 she was converted into a wool warehouso and ilnally
in 1933, broken up, after ninety years of sorvicos
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THE GREAT BRITATN

The third part of paper No. 11 'Three Early Liverpool Screw
Stcamers', rcad to the Sociecty by the late Arthur C. Wardle,
Founder Member, November 1943.

The first two parts dealt with the ANTELOPE and the SARAH
SANDS, and appeared in News, Notes and Queries, Volume Six
(New Scries) No. 1, page 3 and No. 3, page 28. Copies are
available on application to 28, Exchange Street East, Liverpool 2.

So much has been written regarding the largest of our
pioncer screw stcamers as to cause the following notes to appear
superfluous, but I have appended this note in order to commcmorate
in the Socicty's records, the centonary of the launching of the
GREAT BRITAIN. Crecdit for her design scems to lic joimtly with
Bruncl and Scott Russell. She was ordered by the Great Western
Stcamship Company from Patterson, who constructed her in a dry
dock at Bristol, where the keel was laid in 1839. On 19th July
1843, in the presence of Prince Albert and a great concourse of
spectators, she was launched or floated. For some reason, never
satisfactorily explaincd, she proved unable to enter the river
Avon because the dock ontrance, according to some records, was
slightly askew and thus did not permit her to turn, and also that
there was insufficient depth of water over the sill. Another
writer states that she was constructed with so much beam that the
dock entrance merely proved too narrow. Whatever the cause, she
remained fitting out in the Cumberland Dock until December 1844,
and left Bristol on 23rd January 1845, arriving in London in
39 bours.

Her gross tonnage has been stated as 3270 tons by many
writers, and as 3448 by others; whilec there are various cstimates
as to her dimensions, but we may regard the latter as being
322 feet length overall, 289 feet botween perpcndiculars, 50.5
feet breadth, 32.5 feet depth. She was originally intended as
a paddle stecamer, and tradition has it that from this fact sprang
a most valuable invention. Owing to the difficulty of forging
the huge iron shafts which would have been necessary for the
paddles, Brunel, in his extremity consulted the North Country
engineer, Nasmyth, who eventually produced the steam hammer to
wmeet the occasion, and thus our iron and steel industries are
indsbted for an invention which did much to dewvelop them.

But the GREAT BRITAIN (or 'Mammoth' as she was intended
to be named) was not destined to became a paddler. Brunel had
noticed the success of the little screw vessel ARCHIMEIES, and
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the great iron vessel was fitted with four diagonal cylinder
engines by Gupp, 88" diameter, 72" stroke, with an indicated
horse-power of 1500. These worked a six~bladed propeller.

The 1l of the ship was constructed of iron and modelled man
o'war fashion, with tumbled-in or lop-sides. She was fitted with
six masts, known by her crow as 'Monday to Saturday', all of
which, except the sccond or maimmast, were hinged so as to pemmit
them to be lowered to the deck.

On 26th July 1845, she left on her first voyage fram
Liverpool for New York, with 60 passengers and 800 tons cargo,
and reached an average spocd of 9.3 knots, making the return
voyage in 14 days, with a best day's run of 287 miles. She made
scveral good trips, not of any competitive importance to Cunard's
vessels, and on one voyage broke two blades of the propeller,
making her way to Liverpool under sail at better progress than
under steam. Fitted with a new four-bladed screw, she continued
on the station until stranding at Dundrum Bay, Co. Down, in 1846.

Here, her sound comstruction stood up to a great test.
Protected by a large brecakwater of timber and faggots, she lay
there for ten months until towed off by the ill-fated H.M.S.
BIRKENHEAD, and brought round to the Mersey. At this juncture
her owners, Great Western Steamship Company, went into
liquidation, for the GREAT BRITAIN hed cost about £100,000, a
huge sum for those days. At Liverpool she was bought by
Gibbs, Bright & Co. for £24,000.

Meoanwhile there had been some change in her rig, for
the Nautical Magazine of June 1846 states that her rig had been
reduced to five masts, each stepped on to the keel. The new
owners of 1847 contracted with Ponn, of Greenwich, for new engines
and a further change was made regarding funnels, her single funnel
being replaced by two funnols fixed athwartships, while a three-
bladed propoller was substituted for the four-blade sorew. With
these alterations, she reached a trial specd of 10 knots without
sail. She had, in addition, a spread of canvas measuring

1700 square yards.

In 1852, Gibbs Bright & Co., promoted to lLiverpool and
Australian Steam Navigation Company, incorporated by Royal
Charter, and it was the latter fact which gave the name to the
ill-fated steamer ROYAL CHARTER of the same company, of which
Tindall Bright was secretary. The GREAT BRITAIN made another
voyage across the Atlantic and was then put into her owners'
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Australian trade, &longside the famous sailing clippers of the
Eagle and Black Bull Lincs, and, under command of Captain B. R.
Mathews, formerly of the GREAT WESTERN, she arrived at Melbourne
in 81 days. Again, under Mathews, she made another trip in
August 1852 and returned to the Mersey in April 1853, via Algoa
Bay and Simon's Bay, with 260 passengers and £500,000 in specie,
in addition to much gold in the passcngers' possession. The
crew, on both voyages, spdke excellently of their Captain. She
had covered 13,458 miles in 70 sailing days, with an average
speed of eight miles an hour.

According to newspapers of 1853, she underwent another
change. To make her resemble the ROYAL CHARTER, then building,
her four masts were replaced by three taller ones, wooden masts
being substituted for two of the iron masts, and she emerged as
a threc-masted ship, with one funnel - the prettiest of all her
rigs. A% lunch, on completion of these alterationms, Captain
Mathews statod that he first went to sea at ten years of age and
was now 50 years old, having reached that age without shipwreck
or accident. It was also stated at the luncheon that a coaling
station had been specially fixed for the ship at the Falklands
Islands.

She sailed again in the following August, her passenger fares
being: After-Saloon, 70 guineas; Midship berths 65 guineas;
Forc-8aloon second class 42 guincas; Lower Cabin 3 to 32 guineas
and a fow at 25 guineas. Before sailing, she lay in the Sandon
Dock, taking in coals and preparing to bend sails, and the public
wore allowed aboard from noon to four o'clock each day at a
shilling a head, the proceeds being applied to establishing an
enigrants home at Melbourne.

Cargo was taken at £8 per ton plus 5% paid at Liverpool,
the owners stipulating in the bill of lading that 40/-d would be
forfoited by the ship if she failed to reach Melbourne in 65 days.
She sailed on 11th August with 84 first, 119 second, and 116 third
class passengers, 600 tons cargo, and 1400 tons coal. Thousands
assembled at the pier-head to watch her departure, and she was
accompanied as far as thc Bar by Mr. Bright and Captain Schomberg,
R.N. the govermment emigration officer. She made the voyage in
65 days. '

In April 1854 further alterations were made to the vessel,
including the fitting of baths for the passengers. She was then
under command of Captain John Gray, who remained master for some
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years. On February 19th, 1855, the GREAT BRITAIN was re-
registered at Liverpool as an iron screw threc-mast ship of 1794
nott tons, measuring 274 feet length, 48.2 breadth, by 31.5 feet
depth, with standing bowsprit, square stern, shield head, sham
galleries, carvel built.

During the ensuring years she remained on the Australian
station, except for a period of trooping. In official trooping
records she is shown as of 2953 tons gross, and on 9th February
1856 carried several military units from Liverpool to Kingstown
and on 5th March took out a full load of troops for Malta. In
the following Junc, she returned from Malta to Liverpool with
the 3rd Lancers and the 48th Regiment on board.

She then resumed service to Australia under Captain Gray,
and from Liverpool records appears to have carried a crew of 138
men for these trips. On this trade she continued a popular
vessel for 20 years, her yellow funnel and familiar house-flag
being known by cvery sailorman. When reporting one of her
arrivals in the Mersey in 1871, the local newspapers stated that
she had then made no less than seven consecutive voyages
averaging 571 days, truly a creditable performance for such a
venerable ship. But, the fuel cost of her voyages must have
proved excessive, and in 1874 she was withdrawn from the service

Seven years later, her engines were taken out and she
became a sailing ship, but her sailing carcer proved brief, and
in 1883 the grand old vessel was condemned and hulked at Port
Stanley, in the Falkland Island, for usc as a coal depot. In
1920 she was converted into a wool warehouse and finally, in
1933, broken up, after ninety years of sorvice.
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